1992

# Gina M. Hill v. Dr. Carl Dickerson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The above entitled appeal is from an order of dismissal with prejudice, which was granted by the First Judicial District Court, Box Elder County, State of Utah, in favor of Defendant. Plaintiff filed this appeal on December 6, 1991, pursuant to the provisions of Article VIII § 3 of the Constitution of Utah, U.C.A. § 78-2-2, and Rule 3 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, after a thirty (30) day extension to file the Notice of Appeal was granted on November 6, 1991.

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES FOR REVIEW AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

(1) Did the trial court commit reversible error by granting Defendant's Motion in Limine, or in the alternative, by denying Plaintiff's Motion for Continuance while granting Defendant's Motion in Limine? The standard of review for this issue is a review of the appropriateness of the exercise of the trial court's discretion. Bambrough v. Bethers, 552 P.2d 1286, 1290 (Utah 1976); Reeves v. Geigy Pharmaceutical, Inc., 764 P.2d 636, 639 (Ct. App. Utah 1988). The standard for reviewing whether the trial court has properly exercised its discretion is the following:

... where the lower tribunal, acting within the scope of its authority, has conducted a hearing and arrived at a decision, the reviewing court will examine only the certified record; and will not interfere with matters of discretion or upset the actions of the lower

tribunal except upon a showing that the tribunal acted in excess of its authority or in a manner so clearly outside reason that its action must be deemed capricious and arbitrary.

Peatross v. Bd. of Comm'rs of Salt Lake Cty, 555 P.2d 281, 284 (Utah 1976) (footnotes omitted).

(2) Did the trial court commit reversible error in dismissing Plaintiff's Complaint with prejudice, based upon a procedural defect, thereby depriving her of her right to trial by jury and to have her claim adjudicated on the merits? The standard of review for this issue is a review of the appropriateness of the exercise of the trial court's discretion. Bambrough, 552 P.2d at 1290; Reeves, 764 P.2d at 639. The standard of reviewing whether the trial court has properly exercised its discretion is the following:

... where the lower tribunal, acting within the scope of its authority, has conducted a hearing and arrived at a decision, the reviewing court will examine only the certified record; and will not interfere with matters of discretion or upset the actions of the lower tribunal except upon a showing that the tribunal acted in excess of its authority or in a manner so clearly outside reason that its action must be deemed capricious and arbitrary.

Peatross, 555 P.2d at 284.

#### DETERMINATIVE RULE

"The right of trial by jury as declared by the constitution or as given by statute shall be preserved to the parties." Rule 38(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.



## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### I. Nature of the Case.

This is a medical malpractice action brought by Plaintiff against Defendant for negligent dental treatment of Plaintiff between February of 1986 and April of 1988. (R. at 001-010.)

### II. Course of Proceedings Below.

On March 8, 1990, Plaintiff filed this dental malpractice action against Defendant, alleging that Defendant's treatment of Plaintiff's teeth, and Defendant's failure to refer Plaintiff to a specialist during the two year period of treatment, constituted dental malpractice. (R. at 001-010.) This action was initially scheduled for trial to commence on April 10, 1991. (R. at 063-065.) However, when Plaintiff's medical expert, Dr. Steve Larsen, reneged on his agreement to be her expert on the eve of trial, the lower court granted Plaintiff's first Motion for Continuance on April 9, 1991, continuing the trial to August 26, 1991. (R. at 161, 234.)

On August 14, 1991, Defendant refused to stipulate to an additional short continuance, after Plaintiff learned that her preferred expert, Dr. George Bagwell, would not be available on August 26, 1991. (R. at 230.) On August 19, 1991, by facsimile transmission to Defendant's counsel, Plaintiff designated Dr. Hollin Hiller, her second choice for expert witness. (R. at 230.)

In spite of the fact that both experts had been generally identified at the hearing on April 9, 1991, Defendant objected to Plaintiff's designation and moved the court in limine for an order precluding Plaintiff from calling Dr. Hiller as an expert witness at trial. (R. at 174-183, 235.)

The hearing on the Motion in Limine was initiated in a telephone conference with the lower court at the Circuit Court chambers of Judge West in Ogden, Utah, on August 23, 1991, the audio tape of which was subsequently lost or misplaced. (R. at 235; absence of transcript of August 23, 1991, hearing as part of the record.) In that telephone conference, Plaintiff's counsel also moved the court for a short continuance of the trial date to allow Defendant time to formally depose Dr. Hiller. Although the court reserved its ruling until the following Monday, the first day of trial, the court encouraged the parties to settle and encouraged Defendant's counsel to conduct the deposition of Dr. Hiller by telephone; however, Defendant's counsel chose not to do so. (R. at 235.)

### **III. Disposition in the Court Below.**

On the morning of trial, August 26, 1991, the court below granted Defendant's Motion in Limine and denied Plaintiff's Motion for Continuance. The lower court further dismissed this action with prejudice, based upon the lack of any expert testimony. (R. at 203-219.)

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

1. Between February of 1986 and April of 1988, Defendant performed root canals on two of Plaintiff's teeth. Beginning in March of 1986, Plaintiff began having irritation and pain in the first tooth in which a root canal was performed in February of 1986. (R. at 002-003, 121-122.)

2. Over the next two years, Plaintiff had continual pain and other problems with this tooth. Defendant continued to prescribe Penicillin VK to Plaintiff intermittently over that two year period. In January of 1988, Defendant also initiated a second root canal on a second tooth, which also caused irritation and pain to Plaintiff. (R. at 003, 121-122.)

3. In April of 1988, upon the recommendation of her gynecologist, Dr. Parkinson, Plaintiff terminated her treatment by Defendant and sought assistance from Dr. Steve Larsen, an endodontist, and Dr. Stewart Wilkinson, an oral surgeon. (R. at 004, 122.)

4. On March 8, 1990, Plaintiff filed this dental malpractice action against Defendant, alleging that Defendant's treatment of Plaintiff's teeth, and Defendant's failure to refer Plaintiff to a specialist during the two year period of treatment, constituted dental malpractice. This matter was initially scheduled for trial to commence on April 10, 1991. (R. at 001-010, 063-065.)

5. No formal discovery, including depositions, interrogatories, requests for production of documents, or request for admissions, was ever conducted in this action. (R. at 001-289.)

6. In preparation for trial of this matter, Walter Merrill, from the office of counsel for Plaintiff, met with Dr. Steve Larsen and discussed with him Plaintiff's desire to hire him as her expert witness. Dr. Larsen quoted \$250.00 per hour for in-court testimony and agreed to be Plaintiff's expert. Plaintiff's counsel then designated Dr. Larsen as Plaintiff's expert, although such designation was due approximately one month earlier. However, Defendant's Expert Witness List was due March 8, 1991, but was not provided until April 19, 1991, a month and a half late. (R. at 067-069, 072-074, 228-229.)

7. On April 4, 1991, Douglas Durbano, Plaintiff's counsel, visited with Dr. Larsen by telephone concerning his testimony at the coming trial. Dr. Larsen confirmed to counsel that the standard of care had been breached, not only in the actual performance of the root canals, but also in the failure to refer Plaintiff out to a specialist within the first 6 months of treatment. Dr. Larsen indicated for the first time that he was concerned about the effect his expert testimony might have on future referrals from dentists in his community. The conversation was concluded with the understanding that counsel would contact

Dr. Larsen once more the first of the following week concerning the scheduling of his testimony at the trial. (R. at 233-234.)

8. On April 5, 1991, Dr. Larsen called Mr. Durbano's office but, in his absence, talked with Mr. Merrill. Dr. Larsen stated to Mr. Merrill that he simply could not be Plaintiff's expert in this matter. Mr. Merrill immediately went to work to find a substitute expert and located one in Durango, Colorado, Dr. George Bagwell, and another in Idaho Falls, Idaho, Dr. Hollin Hiller. However, both experts needed more notice than Plaintiff could provide with the trial to commence on April 10, 1991. (R. at 229.)

9. Plaintiff immediately made a motion before the trial court for a continuance of the trial date, which motion was heard before the Honorable Judge Newey on April 9, 1991. The lower court found that to commence the trial of this matter on April 10, 1991, under the circumstances would be prejudicial to Plaintiff and granted Plaintiff's Motion for Continuance. The trial was continued until August 26, 1991. Plaintiff's counsel informed Defense counsel, in open court, of her two potential expert witnesses and the trial court ordered the parties to exchange new witness lists, identifying their expert witnesses, within 10 days after the hearing. (R. at 161, 234.)

10. After the hearing on April 9, 1991, the parties entered into concentrated settlement negotiations, pursuant to which the

parties agreed that Plaintiff would not need to designate which of the two experts she would be using until failure of the negotiation efforts. A confirming letter was sent to counsel for Defendant on April 24, 1991, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit "A" to the Affidavit of Walter T. Merrill. (R. at 229, 287.)

11. Pursuant to the settlement negotiations, a mediation conference was conducted at Western Arbitration on June 28, 1991. However, the mediation conference was unsuccessful in producing a settlement of this matter. (R. at 234.)

12. In an effort to reduce the cost of an expert, Plaintiff's counsel attempted to find a local expert during the next several weeks after the mediation conference. However, all dentists contacted by Plaintiff's counsel refused to be the expert witness for Plaintiff. (R. at 229.)

13. Having had no success in finding a local expert, and with the settlement prospects becoming more unlikely, counsel for Plaintiff contacted Dr. Bagwell, Plaintiff's preferred expert, on August 12, 1991, to confirm his availability. However, although Dr. Bagwell had stated before that he only required 10 days notice, Dr. Bagwell was not available on the dates scheduled for the trial of this matter, starting on August 26, 1991. Although counsel for Plaintiff attempted immediately, he was not able to contact Defendant's counsel until August 14, 1991, to communicate

that Dr. Bagwell, identified earlier as the expert from Durango, Colorado, would not be available on the scheduled trial dates. Plaintiff's counsel requested that counsel for Defendant stipulate to a short continuance until Dr. Bagwell would be available, but Defendant's counsel denied the request and stated for the first time that it was too late to designate an expert and that he would object to any designation of an expert witness. (R. at 230.)

14. On August 15, 1991, Plaintiff's counsel contacted Dr. Hiller, the expert previously identified from Idaho Falls, to discuss his availability. Upon ascertaining Dr. Hiller's availability, Plaintiff's counsel revised the witness list and telefaxed the revised list with a cover letter to counsel for Defendant on August 19, 1991, a copy of which is attached at Exhibit "B" to the Affidavit of Walter T. Merrill. Plaintiff's counsel stated that Dr. Hiller would be available for deposition anytime that week. (R. at 171-173, 230, 288.)

15. Plaintiff's counsel telefaxed a second letter to Defendant's counsel on August 22, 1991, attached as Exhibit "C" to the Affidavit of Walter T. Merrill, identifying what Dr. Hiller's testimony would be at trial, and again stating his availability for interview or deposition. (R. at 230-231, 289; absence of transcript of August 23, 1991, hearing as part of the record.)

16. Defendant objected to Plaintiff's witness list and moved the trial court in Limine for an order precluding Plaintiff

from calling Dr. Hiller as an expert witness at trial. The hearing on the Motion in Limine was initiated in a telephone conference with the lower court, at the Circuit Court chambers of Judge West, who was presiding due to the illness of Judge Gunnell, on August 23, 1991, the audio tape of which was subsequently lost or misplaced. In that telephone conference, counsel for Plaintiff also moved the trial court for a short continuance of the trial date. Although Judge West reserved his ruling until the following Monday, the first day of trial, he did state in the telephone conference that Plaintiff needed an expert witness, that continuance of the trial was unlikely, and he encouraged the parties to settle the matter and encouraged counsel for Defendant to depose Dr. Hiller by telephone; however, Defendant's counsel chose not to do so. (R. at 174-183, 235; absence of transcript of August 23, 1991, hearing as part of the record.)

17. The hearing on Defendant's Motion in Limine and Plaintiff's Motion for Continuance was concluded the morning of trial, August 26, 1991, at which time the trial court made the following findings:

(a) that Plaintiff was in need of an expert in order to establish the standard of care in a case of this nature;

(b) that the need for an expert was clear and obvious from the beginning;



(c) that designation of the expert witness to be used by Plaintiff on August 19, 1991, created extreme prejudice to Defendant;

(d) that without notice to the trial court, the parties could not agree to deviate from the order of the lower court requiring expert witnesses to be designated within 10 days after the hearing in April;

(e) that upon designation of Plaintiff's expert, Defendant desired to take the expert's deposition and was encouraged by the trial court to do so, but refused to do so on the basis of lack of time;

(f) that all through this action, there had been no formal discovery;

(g) that if Plaintiff were to go forward with her evidence without an expert, the trial court would direct a verdict in favor of Defendant; and

(h) that the trial in this matter has been continued once and that Judge West was unsure how many times to continue the trial of this matter.

The trial court then granted Defendant's Motion in Limine and denied Plaintiff's Motion for Continuance. Judge West further dismissed this action with prejudice, based on the lack of any expert testimony. (R. at 191-202, 203-219.)

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court committed reversible error in denying Plaintiff's Motion for Continuance while granting Defendants Motion in Limine. The lower court's denial of the Motion for Continuance was based in part upon the fact that the trial had been continued once before. However, the prior continuance was not based upon any fault of Plaintiff or her counsel and should not have been a consideration in the Judge's ruling on her second Motion for Continuance. The trial court, in denying Plaintiff's Motion for Continuance, ruled that without notice to the lower court, the parties could not agree to deviate from a prior order of the trial court requiring designation of expert witnesses by April 19, 1992. This ruling is inconsistent with the law and requires reversal of the Order entered October 7, 1991.

The Order should also be reversed because the trial court failed to recognize the exception to the requirement of expert testimony, which exception should have been applied to the case at bar. Reversal of the trial court's Order is also supported by Defendant's conduct in reaching an agreement that Plaintiff's expert would not need to be designated until negotiations failed, and continuing to loll Plaintiff into that impression, while Defendant intended to deny any such agreement before the lower court. Based upon a prior ruling of this Court, the trial court should have denied Defendant's Motion in Limine, precluding expert

testimony on behalf of Plaintiff. For all of the reasons stated herein, the Order entered October 7, 1991 should be reversed.

In dismissing Plaintiff's Complaint, the lower court has denied Plaintiff her right to a trial by jury and her right to have her claim adjudicated on the merits. However, the conduct of the parties throughout the proceedings of this lawsuit precludes such a harsh and permanent remedy. For that reason, the lower court's Order entered October 7, 1991, should be reversed.

#### ARGUMENT

##### **I. The Trial Court Abused its Discretion by Denying Plaintiff's Motion for Continuance While Granting Defendant's Motion in Limine.**

While the trial court has substantial discretion in deciding whether to grant continuances, in making such determination, the trial court must act reasonably. Christenson v. Jewkes, 761 P.2d 1375, 1377 (Utah 1988). If the action of the trial court is deemed capricious or arbitrary, the trial court's order must be reversed. Peatross, 555 P.2d at 284. It has been held that "[d]enial of a motion for continuance constitutes an abuse of discretion 'when a party has been deprived of a substantial right or seriously prejudiced.'" Siggelkow v. Siggelkow, 643 P.2d 985, 986-87 (Alaska 1982) (citation omitted). In the case at bar, the trial court's Order dated October 7, 1991, has deprived Plaintiff of her substantial right of not only trial by jury but also to have her claim adjudicated on the merits. The extreme prejudice

which this Order has caused Plaintiff requires reversal of the trial court's Order. Id.

The trial court's denial of Plaintiff's Motion for Continuance was based at least in part upon a finding that the trial had been continued once and Judge West didn't know how many more times he could continue it. (R. at 217.) However, the first continuance of the trial in this matter was not due to either Plaintiff's negligence or her counsel's lack of preparation. Plaintiff had made firm arrangements with Dr. Steve Larsen to be her expert witness in this action. It was only when Dr. Larsen reneged on his agreement on the eve of trial that Plaintiff was forced to move for a continuance, which Motion was communicated to the office of Defendant's counsel the same day Dr. Larsen reneged. The Honorable Judge Newey, sitting on the bench at the time, agreed that the loss of her expert was not Plaintiff's doing, found that to commence the trial the following day under the circumstances would be prejudicial to Plaintiff, and therefore, granted Plaintiff's first Motion for Continuance. Because Judge West's denial of Plaintiff's second Motion for Continuance was based upon the fact that the trial had been continued once before, the Order entered October 7, 1991, dismissing Plaintiff's Complaint with prejudice, should be reversed.

Although the order of the trial court pursuant to the hearing on April 9, 1991, required the parties to exchange expert witness

lists within 10 days after the hearing, as a result of concentrated settlement negotiations, the parties agreed that Plaintiff would not need to designate which of the two experts identified at the hearing she would be using, until the settlement negotiations failed. A confirming letter was sent to Defendant's counsel on April 24, 1991, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit "A" to the Affidavit of Walter T. Merrill. (R. at 287.) Defendant made no reference to this agreement or the confirming letter throughout the proceeding below, apparently hoping the trial court would ignore the arrangement, which it did. However, attorneys have the implied authority and authorization to enter into stipulations and agreements with opposing counsel respecting matters of procedure. In Interest of Holt, 625 P.2d 398, 401 (Idaho 1981); In re Adoption of Coggins, 537 P.2d 287, 290 (Ct. App. Wash. 1975); Linsk v. Linsk, 449 P.2d 760, 762 (Cal. 1969); 7 Am. Jur. 2d Attorneys at Law § 150.

Since the order, requiring the parties to designate expert witnesses within 10 days of the April hearing, was purely procedural in nature, the agreement that Plaintiff need not designate her expert witness until settlement negotiations had failed was a valid and enforceable agreement between the parties. However, in denying Plaintiff's Motion for Continuance concerning the second trial date, the lower ruled that without notice to the lower court, the parties could not agree to deviate from the order

of the trial court requiring expert witnesses to be designated within 10 days after the April hearing. (R. at 216.) This ruling is totally inconsistent with the law, is an abuse of discretion, and requires the reversal of the trial court's Order entered October 7, 1991.

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