1992

Gina M. Hill v. Dr. Carl Dickerson : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The trial court's decision to deny plaintiff's Motion for Continuance and grant defendant's Motion in Limine was a proper exercise of discretion and should be affirmed. A trial court has substantial discretion in deciding whether to grant continuances, and in excluding witnesses not properly designated, and will not be reversed on appeal unless the court has acted unreasonably and its' decision is arbitrary and capricious. A trial court's exercise of discretion will be affirmed if that discretion has substance in believable, admissable evidence.

In this instance, the trial court's decision was reached after hearing argument from the parties and reviewing the memoranda submitted by the parties. The trial court considered numerous factors, including the impact of its decision on both parties, the fact that the case had been pending a long time, the fact that the

for both parties regarding when settlement negotiations occurred and ended, the fact that the need for an expert witness to establish a prima facie case had been known to plaintiff since the April 9, 1991 hearing, the time available to defendant between plaintiff's designation of witnesses and trial to take depositions, the prejudice to each party, the interests of the Court and the reasonable expectations, interests and rights of the parties. (R. at 199-219).

After addressing these concerns, the trial court found that the designation of new fact witnesses and the designation of an expert witness by plaintiff on August 19, 1991 was untimely and in violation of the court's Order dated April 29, 1991. The trial court further found that defendant would be seriously prejudiced if the witnesses first identified by plaintiff on August 19, 1991 were allowed to testify. Finally, the trial court noted that the responsibility and burden of providing an expert witness in this case has been with the plaintiff from day one. (R. at 199-219).

The trial court also found, and plaintiff did not dispute, that expert testimony would be required for plaintiff to establish a prima facie case to be submitted to a jury. Therefore, plaintiff suggested and agreed that the trial court should dismiss the case rather than have plaintiff present her case without expert testimony and have the trial court direct a verdict against her. R. at 199-219).

There is no evidence that the trial court acted arbitrarily, capriciously or unreasonably. All of the relevant factual and

legal considerations were taken into account by the trial court prior to reaching its decision. Moreover, plaintiff had abundant time in which to prepare her case and present expert testimony. The evidence establishes that the trial court's exercise of discretion in this instance was made after carefully reviewing the facts and circumstances and was based on believable, admissible evidence. Therefore, the trial court's order denying plaintiff's Motion for Continuance and granting defendant's Motion in Limine should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I

THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION TO DENY PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR CONTINUANCE AND GRANT DEFENDANT'S MOTION IN LIMINE WAS NOT AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION AND SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

A. Review of a Motion for Continuance and a Motion in Limine.

The sole issue for review on appeal is whether the trial court's decision to deny plaintiff's Motion for Continuance and grant defendant's Motion in Limine was an abuse of discretion.

The law is clear in Utah that the trial court has substantial discretion in deciding whether to grant continuances. Christenson v. Jewkes, 761 P.2d 1375, 1377 (Utah 1988). The trial judges action in denying a continuance will not be reversed on appeal unless the court has abused that discretion by acting unreasonably. Hardy v. Hardy, 776 P.2d 917, 926 (Utah App. 1989). The trial court also has broad discretion to permit or deny the testimony of witnesses. Christenson v. Jewkes, supra; Adroit v. Electric Mutual

Liability Ins. Co., 542 P.2d 810, 815 (Ariz. 1975); In Re Estate of Gardner, 505 P.2d 50, 52 (Colo. App. 1972).

A trial court's exercise of discretion will be affirmed if that discretion has substance in believable, admissable evidence. Reliance National Life Insur. Co. v. Caine, 555 P.2d 276, 277 (Utah 1976). The standard for reviewing a trial court's exercise of discretion has previously been addressed in Peatross v. Board of Com'rs of Salt Lake City, 555 P.2d 281, 284 (Utah 1976):

[W]here the lower tribunal, acting within the scope of its authority, has conducted a hearing and arrived at a decision, the reviewing court will examine only the certified record; and will not interfere with matters of discretion or upset the actions of the lower tribunal except upon a showing that the tribunal acted in excess of its authority or in a manner so clearly outside reason that its action must be deemed capricious and arbitrary. (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

Thus, to reverse a trial court's exercise of discretion, the appellant must establish that the trial court acted unreasonably and that its decision was arbitrary and capricious.

Other state courts have reached similar holdings regarding the standard of review by an appellate court when reviewing a trial court's exercise of discretion. The Arizona Court of Appeals stated it would not substitute its discretion for that of the trial court and that the trial court is presumed to be correct if there is a reasonable basis in the record to sustain the exercise of its discretion. Grand Real Estate, Inc. v. Sirignano, 676 P.2d 642, 648 (Ariz. App. 1983); Lancaster v. Chemi-Cote Perlite Corporation, 511 P.2d 673 (Ariz. App. 1973). The Washington Supreme Court came to a similar conclusion:

Where the decision or order of the trial court is a matter of discretion, it will not be disturbed on review except on a clear showing of abuse of discretion, that is, discretion manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons. (citations omitted).

State Ex Rel. Carroll v. Junker, 482 P.2d 775, 784 (Wash. 1971).

In this instance, there is no evidence that the trial court acted arbitrarily, capriciously or unreasonably, or that its decision was based on untenable grounds.

B. The Trial Court's Decision to Grant Dr. Dickerson's Motion in Limine and Deny Plaintiff's Second Motion for Continuance.

The trial court carefully considered all of the relevant facts and circumstances before coming to its decision regarding the Motion in Limine and requested continuance. (R. at 199-219).

Although plaintiff asserts that the trial court failed to consider the fact that there had been little formal discovery conducted in this case, the trial court expressly considered that as a factor in its decision. (R. at 207-208). The trial court heard arguments from counsel for both parties and considered the impact of its decision on the parties. It considered the amount of time the case had been pending, the fact that there already had been one continuance, the reason for the first continuance, the representations of counsel for both parties regarding when settlement negotiations occurred and ended, the fact that the need for an expert witness to establish a prima facie case had been known to plaintiff since the April 9, 1991 hearing before the trial court, the time available to defendant between plaintiff's designation of witnesses and trial to take depositions, the

prejudice to each party, the interests of the court and the reasonable expectations, interests and rights of the parties. (R. at 203-219).

After carefully considering all of these factors the court concluded and found: that plaintiff's designation of new fact witnesses and an expert witness was untimely and in violation of the court's order; that defendant would be seriously prejudiced if these witnesses were allowed to testify; that the issues presented in this case regarding the applicable standard of care, whether the standard of care was breached and causation are not within the common knowledge or experience of lay persons and expert testimony would therefore be required for plaintiff to make a prima facie case which could be submitted to the jury. Based on the lack of expert testimony to be presented by plaintiff, the matter was dismissed. (R. at 199-202).

These findings are reasonable and supported by evidence before the court. The trial court's findings were clearly carefully considered and not arbitrary, capricious or an abuse of discretion.

In an early California court of Appeals case, Kalmus v. Kalmus, 230 P.2d 57 (Calif. App. 1951), the court affirmed the trial court's denial of a motion for continuance and discussed the policy considerations behind its decision:

Because of the necessity for orderly, prompt and effective disposition of litigation and the loss and hardship to the parties to an action, as well as to witnesses therein, it becomes and is a part of the bounden duty of the trial judge, in the absence of some weighty reason to the contrary, to insist upon cases

being heard and determined with as great promptness as the exigencies of the case will permit.

Id. at 63.

Further, in the matter of In Re Estate Gardner, 505 P.2d 50 (Colo. App. 1972), the Colorado Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's refusal to allow the testimony of a witness, either as an expert or as a lay witness, who was not listed in the pretrial order nor added as a witness within the time requirements set forth in the pretrial order. In reaching its decision, the court relied on the rationale provided by the trial court:

The court refused to allow him to testify as an expert and then caveators requested that he be allowed to testify as a lay witness. This was also refused. The court then stated there had been ample time to list witnesses and that proponent would be prejudiced and deprived of time to prepare for trial if the witness were allowed to testify.

The purpose of such pre-trial disclosure of witnesses is to enable all parties to prepare for trial. (citation omitted) Under C.R.C.P. 16 wide discretion is vested in the trial court to determine whether a witness who has not been listed on the pre-trial order and whose name has not been disclosed to the opposing party may testify. The court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to allow Dr. Murchison to testify.

Id. at 51-52. (See also Salazar v. Ehmann, 505 P.2d 387 (Colo. App. 1972); wherein the Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's decision to sustain plaintiff's objection to allowing the testimony of one of defendant's witnesses who had not been named as a witness pursuant to the pretrial order.)

The Alaska Supreme Court reached the same decision in Bertram v. Harris, 423 P.2d 909 (Alaska 1967), where they upheld the trial court's refusal to allow the testimony of a witness who had not

been timely named in the pretrial memorandum. In reaching its decision, the court discussed the purpose behind the pretrial naming of witnesses:

Pre-trial procedure is intended to assist the trial judge by simplifying the issues, making necessary amendments to the pleadings, obtaining admissions, limiting the number of expert witnesses and considering and making a determination on any other matter that will aid in the fair and orderly disposition of the action. . . .

A requirement that all parties disclose the names and addresses of all witnesses intended to be called works to the advantage of both sides in completing discovery proceedings, eliminating surprise and shortening the trial. The practice is commonly followed in the Federal court and is to be encouraged in the courts of this state.

Id. at 916.

In this instance, plaintiff's expert witness was not identified to defendant until August 22, 1991 (two business days before trial). Defendant was severely prejudiced by this untimely designation. There was not reasonable time for defendant to depose plaintiff's expert witness. There was also no time for defendant to perform a background or professional investigation on plaintiff's expert, as is customarily done with medical experts.

Defendant would have been faced with cross examining a medical/dental expert at trial with no deposition transcript to use, and without knowing specifically what the expert's opinions and bases for opinions were. Further, defendant would have had to cross examine six additional fact witnesses with no deposition transcripts and no knowledge of their trial testimony. This would

cross examine six additional fact witnesses with no deposition transcripts and no knowledge of their trial testimony. This would have resulted in a basic deprivation of defendant's right to adequately prepare a defense.

The record in this instance clearly establishes that the trial court denied plaintiff's second Motion for Continuance after carefully evaluating the relevant facts; finding that plaintiff's designation of new fact witnesses and an expert witness violated the court's order and that defendant would be seriously prejudiced if these witnesses were allowed to testify. The trial court also noted that the responsibility and burden of providing an expert witness in this case has been with the plaintiff from day one. (R. at 199-219).

The trial court exercised its discretion after a thorough consideration of the relevant factual circumstances and principles of law. Its decision to deny plaintiff a second continuance was based on believable, admissible evidence and was clearly within its discretion, particularly after previously granting plaintiff one continuance on the eve of the first trial. Moreover, plaintiff had abundant time in which to prepare her case and timely provide for expert testimony. Plaintiff has failed to meet her burden of establishing that the trial court abused its' discretion and acted arbitrarily and capriciously. Thus, the trial court's order denying plaintiff's Motion for Continuance and granting defendant's Motion in Limine should be affirmed.

C. Plaintiff's Arguments.

1. The Trial Court's Decision to Deny plaintiff's Motion for Continuance.

Plaintiff argues in her brief that the first continuance of the trial was not due to her negligence or her counsel's lack of preparation, and because of this the first continuance should not have been considered by the trial court when ruling on plaintiff's second Motion for Continuance. (See plaintiff's Brief at 14). To begin with, there is no authority in support of the position that the trial court should not consider the first continuance as a factor in its decision.

Further, it is plaintiff's responsibility to insure prior to trial that her witnesses will be available. This is particularly true when it involves an expert witness in a malpractice case such as this, where the trial court had previously ruled that expert testimony was required to establish a prima facie case.

Finally, the trial court considered a number of factors in reaching its decision to deny plaintiff's second Motion for Continuance, not just the fact that there already had been one continuance. (R. at 207, 217-218).

Among those other factors considered by the trial court, which are already referred to above, are the following: plaintiff's violation of the court's order and the extreme prejudice to the defendant; the impact of its decision on the parties; the amount of time the case had been pending; the representations of counsel for both parties regarding when settlement negotiations occurred and

ended; the fact that the need for an expert witness to establish a prima facie case had been known to plaintiff since the April 9, 1991 hearing before the trial court; the time available to defendant between plaintiff's designation of witnesses and trial to take depositions; the prejudice to each party; the interests of the Court and the reasonable expectations, interests and rights of the parties. (R. at 199-219).

2. Plaintiff's Untimely Named Expert Witness.

Plaintiff also argues that there was an agreement between the parties that she would not need to designate her experts until settlement negotiations had failed, and that the trial court ignored this. (See plaintiff's Brief at 15). This is incorrect, as the trial court specifically addressed this issue, hearing from both parties when the second Motion for Continuance was argued. (R. at 207-219). Plaintiff further asserts that defendant made no reference to this agreement in the proceedings below. This is also incorrect, as can be seen from the record of the proceedings below. (R. at 211-214). Defendant specifically addressed and disagreed with plaintiff's assertions that settlement negotiations had been ongoing and she would not have to name her expert witness. (R. at 211-214).

Defendant did agree, on April 23, 1991, to allow plaintiff's counsel to defer retaining and designating their expert witness until settlement of the case could be explored. (R. at 192). However, as a culmination of the settlement discussions, a mediation conference was conducted at Western Arbitration on June

28, 1991. The mediation was unsuccessful. At the conclusion of the mediation meeting all offers had been rejected and no further offers of settlement were made by either party up to the commencement of trial. There were no settlement discussions between June 28, 1991 and the trial. (R. at 213-214, 239).

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